
Civic Centre, Home Gardens, Dartford, Kent, DA1 1DR
Tel: 01322 343434 Fax: 01322 343422 Web:www.dartford.gov.uk

Scrutiny 
Committee

Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)

Councillor A Bardoe Councillor C S McLean
Councillor J Burrell Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor R M Currans Councillor Mrs J A Ozog
Councillor P Cutler Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor J A Hayes Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor S R Jarnell Councillor A S Sandhu MBE
Councillor J Jones Councillor Mrs R F Storey
Councillor Mrs M B Kelly

A meeting of the above Committee will be held on

Tuesday 20 November 2018

at 7 pm at the Civic Centre, Dartford



This page is intentionally left blank



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
AGENDA

Tuesday 20 November 2018

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Declarations of Interest 

To receive declarations of interest from Members including the 
terms(s) of the Grant of Dispensation (if any) by the Audit Board or 
Managing Director.

3. Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 
September 2018 

(Pages 1 - 
8)

4. Urgent Items 

The Chairman will announce his decision as to whether there are 
any urgent items and their position on the agenda. 

5. To consider references from other Committees (IF ANY) 

There are currently no items from other Committees for Members to 
consider.

6. Chairman's Update 

7. Regulation 9 Notice [WP] (Pages 9 - 
12)

To note the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 15 
October 2018 to 28 February 2019.

8. Orchard Theatre Annual Report & Accounts for the year ending 
31 March 2018 [WP] 

(Pages 13 
- 40)

To consider the Theatre Director’s annual report for The Orchard for 
the year ending 31 March 2018, together with the theatre’s published 
Accounts for the corresponding period.



9. Dartford Cricket Club [WP] (Pages 41 
- 44)

To note the attached report and Appendix and comment accordingly.

10. Utilisation and Renewal of Public Litter Bins [Draw-Down] (Pages 45 
- 46)

To note the attached report and comment accordingly.

11. Council's Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement 
[Draw-Down] 

(Pages 47 
- 54)

The consider the Council’s statement on these issues (attached).

12. Scrutiny Committee Rolling Work Plan 2018-19 [WP] (Pages 55 
- 58)

To consider the Committee’s existing Work Plan (attached at 
Appendix A to the report) and comment accordingly.



1

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

MINUTES of the meeting of the Scrutiny Committee held on Tuesday 18 September 
2018 at 7.00 pm.

PRESENT: Councillor J S Hawkes (Chairman)
Councillor M J Davis (Vice-Chairman)
Councillor A Bardoe
Councillor J Burrell
Councillor Mrs. R M Currans
Councillor Paul Cutler
Councillor J A Hayes
Councillor J Jones
Councillor M A Maddison
Councillor Mrs. J A Ozog
Councillor J M Ozog
Councillor D J Reynolds
Councillor Mrs. R F Storey

ABSENT: Councillor S R Jarnell
Councillor M B Kelly
Councillor C S McLean
Councillor A S Sandhu, MBE

Dartford Borough Council Officers:-

Sheri Green – Strategic Director (External 
Services)

Dave Thomas – Waste & Parks Manager

PRESENT TO RESPOND TO ISSUES RAISED BY THE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE:

Mr John Roberts – Manager SE England, Kingdom 
Security Ltd. 

CABINET MEMBERS: Councillor J A Kite MBE, Leader of the Council; Cllr. 
PF Coleman, Portfolio Holder for Frontline Services 

11. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 

Apologies for absence were submitted on behalf of Councillors Jarnell, Mrs 
Maria Kelly, McLean and Sandhu. 

The Chairman welcomed Mr John Roberts, Business Manager SE England 
for Kingdom Security Ltd, Members and Officers to the proceedings.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

2

He appreciated the presence of the Leader of the Council and the Cabinet 
Portfolio Holder for Frontline Services, and gave a special welcome to 
Morenike Olaogun who had recently joined the Democratic Services team and 
was attending her first Council meeting. 

12. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

There were no declarations of interest.

13. CONFIRMATION OF THE MINUTES OF THE MEETING HELD ON 10 JULY 
2018 

RESOLVED:

That the Minutes of the meeting held on 10th July 2018 be confirmed as 
accurate.

14. URGENT ITEMS 

The Chairman announced that there were no urgent items for consideration.

15. TO CONSIDER REFERENCES FROM OTHER COMMITTEES (IF ANY) 

There were no references from other committees for Members to consider. 

16. CHAIRMAN'S UPDATE 

The Chairman advised that he had no matters to bring to Members attention.  

17. REGULATION 9 NOTICE 

RESOLVED: 

That the contents of the Regulation 9 Notice for the period 10 August to 31 
December 2018 be noted.

18. COUNCIL LITTER ENFORCEMENT SCHEME (DRAW-DOWN] 

The Chairman opened the debate by setting out his concerns regarding the 
effectiveness of the current Scheme, how it fitted into the Council’s wider 
strategy to tackle litter in the Borough, and contributed to meeting relevant 
Corporate Objectives. 

He invited the Leader of the Council to address the Committee and respond to 
those specific concerns.

The Leader advised Members that the current Litter Enforcement Scheme 
formed part of the Council’s wider remit. Cabinet had first considered 
imposing such a litter scheme some years ago, but had preferred to try and 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

3

educate the Dartford public regarding litter, rather than impose a scheme at 
that stage.

By 2013 it had become increasingly apparent that educating the public was 
not working. Littering in Dartford, in particular around the town centre and the 
railway station was increasing, and Cabinet took the decision to impose a litter 
scheme. After taking time to learn from other authorities operating litter 
enforcement schemes, Kingdom Security had been chosen to operate the 
Scheme from the small pool of contractors operating in the sector. The 
Council had ensured that a prescriptive contract was drawn-up with Kingdom, 
and given the BBC programme on Kingdom’s litter enforcement schemes 
elsewhere in the UK, the Leader was satisfied that this had ensured that the 
Council’s overall aims and policy objectives were met.

The Chairman asked what types of littering had been targeted under the 
current Scheme.

The Leader said that some littering was more prevalent than others, 
especially in the Town Centre, but believed that littering was fundamental to a 
person’s psyche, a person either littered or did not. Cigarette butt littering, 
particularly in the Town Centre and around Dartford railway station, continued 
to be the primary offence. But littering was committed across a wide spectrum 
and all aspects of the offence were being tackled by the Council under its 
wider remit to reduce littering in the Borough. 

The Chairman noted that over the last 2 years of the Scheme, Fixed Penalty 
Notices (FPNs) for littering had been issued by Kingdom’s Litter Enforcement 
Officers (LEOs) on the following % basis:

 94% of fines were issued for the littering of cigarette butts;
 0.3% for dog fouling;
 0.1% for food waste

He accepted that the dropping of cigarette butts was clearly the No. 1 littering 
offence penalised, but suggested that Dartford had several other litter issues 
which also needed to be addressed. He queried whether the profile of FPNs 
issued matched Dartford’s littering profile on a category basis.

The Leader agreed that clearly it did not and conceded that dog fouling was a 
greater problem than indicated by the 0.3% of FPNs issued. However, 
Kingdom’s LEOs could only issue FPNs for littering offences they could see. It 
remained the case that cigarette butt littering was the major offence observed 
in the Town Centre and Dartford railway station and as a consequence, where 
the majority of FPNs were issued. Hopefully the current Scheme would in 
time, educate the public over this specific offence, to enable Kingdom to 
expand its current Dartford operation beyond the Town Centre and Dartford 
railway station to concentrate on other areas of the Town. At the moment, 
LEOs continued to issue FPNs where offences were seen to be committed. 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

4

The Kingdom Manager advised Members that the company’s LEOs worked in 
daylight hours up to 6 p.m. Monday to Saturday, in partnership with the 
Council’s enforcement officers and Kent police. He confirmed the Leader’s 
advice that offenders had to be clearly seen to be committing an offence, 
before an FPN could be issued by a Kingdom LEO. This made the issue of 
FPNs for dog fouling particularly difficult unless the animal was actually 
observed fouling. It was hoped to extend the daylight hours that LEOs 
patrolled next summer to address this issue, and increase co-ordination with 
Kent Police in Dartford CSU to tackle this challenge.

In answer to a specific question from a Member, the Kingdom Manager 
advised that Greenhithe railway station was not specifically targeted by the 
company’s LEOs in terms of increased patrolling or FPN issue. The high 
number of FPNs issued at Greenhithe railway station directly reflected the 
number of cigarette butt littering offences committed. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed that this was indeed the 
case. The offence of cigarette butt littering at Greenhithe railway station was 
particularly high and the number of FPNs issued reflected this fact.

A Member questioned whether the public’s perception of the litter problem in 
Dartford matched that of the Council’s. He regularly participated in a voluntary 
Dartford Litter Pickers group in his Ward on a Sunday. On average the group 
would fill 6 black sacks with other litter but only 1 black sack with cigarette 
butts and packets. 

The Leader referred the Member back to his previous answer. The current 
Scheme was not intended to meet the public’s perception of the overall litter 
problem in Dartford, but to educate the public and change its behaviour 
towards littering. Cigarette butt littering was the primary offence being 
committed in the Town Centre and at Dartford’s railway stations, and those 
public areas were targeted as a consequence to educate the public and 
change their behaviour, and lead to a drop in this form of littering.

In response to a specific question from a Member, the Kingdom Manager 
advised that his LEO teams were deployed on specific routes on a weekly 
basis in response to Intel reports from a variety of sources including; 
residents, street cleaners, Kent police and Council enforcement officers, 
which led to the identification of litter ‘hotspots’ which were then targeted by 
LEOs. Dartford’s train stations and the Town Centre were regularly identified 
as litter ‘hotspots’. Feedback from his LEO teams indicated that interaction 
with the public was good and that the message not to drop cigarette butts was 
being passed to the public. Under the national ‘Keep Britain Tidy’ campaign, 
cigarette butt littering was a major target, aimed at educating the public.  

A Councillor expressed residents’ concern that train stations and smokers 
were being ‘targeted’ by Kingdom LEOs as easy ‘low hanging fruit’ and asked 
that Kingdom’s Intel regarding railway stations be published.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

5

The Leader rejected the Member’s phrase and concept of smokers and the 
railway station being ‘low hanging fruit’. From the outset in 2013 the current 
Scheme had been designed to target the Town Centre and Dartford train 
station as public areas where cigarette butt littering was highly prevalent, in a 
calculated policy to educate and change public behaviour before expanding 
the Scheme to other areas of the Borough. There was clearly a recidivist 
element to cigarette butt littering because numbers were still high, but the 
Scheme was not about just one area, it was about catching and educating 
repeat offenders.

The Kingdom Manager supported the Leader in his comments. Dartford 
railway station was the main commuter terminal and the continued high level 
of cigarette butt littering reflected this fact. He had held discussions with 
Southeastern Railways to try and address this specific recurrent litter issue, 
given the Station’s importance as a first impression and perception of 
Dartford. It was also important to impress on regular commuters that cigarette 
butt littering was not going to be accepted by the Council and to stop the 
‘broken window’ theory that; if criminal and other socially unacceptable 
behaviour was not addressed; it would continue and likely escalate.

The Chairman suggested that, despite an apparently low recidivism rate 
[amongst fined offenders] the fact that incidences of cigarette butt littering 
were still high suggested that the message was not getting through to the 
wider public, and by extension, that the current Scheme was not effective in 
changing public behaviour.

The Leader advised that it was clear from 2016/17 and 2017/18 Kingdom data 
that the recidivism rate amongst smokers dropping cigarette butts was low 
when fined. Educating the public was a matter of time and the Scheme clearly 
needed more time to change public behaviour regarding this specific littering 
offence. The Council would continue to fine offenders and he believed the 
message would eventually get through to the public at large. The Scheme 
was a ‘win-win’ operation for the Council, it required zero financing and 
actually provided a revenue stream for the Authority. 

In response to a subsequent follow-up question, the Leader and the Strategic 
Director (External Services) advised Members that the revenue stream from 
the Scheme had been used by the Council to; supplement resources, provide  
additional bins, tackle over-flowing bins, tackle fly-tipping (including a £6K bill 
to remove a tyre mountain) and fund the purchase of new CCTV cameras. 

In response to a number of questions from Members regarding; LEO patrol 
patterns, food packaging and drinks can littering at the week-end around West 
Hill by customers of Dartford’s night-time economy, and on the way to Sutton-
at-Hone and Hawley, plus early morning dog walkers allowing their animals to 
foul those same streets; the Strategic Director (ES), the Council’s Waste & 
Parks Manager and the Kingdom Manger confirmed the following points:

 Wards were patrolled on the basis of Intel received - not set in stone;



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

6

 If residents raised concerns over specific littering behaviour the Council 
EOs and Kingdom’s LEOs would respond accordingly;

 LEOs would undertake dog-fouling patrols between 5-8 a.m. in the 
summer months when such offences could be observed by Officers;

 Kingdom participated in Police led multi-agency operations on a 
monthly basis, to tackle littering issues arising out of Dartford’s night-
time economy;

 Kingdom held weekly team meetings with Dartford partners to assess 
the Intel received from a wide variety of sources including residents 
and shopkeepers, to set patrol patterns to target current litter ‘hotspots’ 
accordingly, under the over-all direction of the Council’s Enforcement 
Manager.

The Leader clarified for Members that Kent police and CSU staff played the 
principal roles in the policing of Dartford’s night-time economy, with Kingdom 
officers playing an observatory role at this stage, which could be expanded in 
time once day-time littering offences in the Town Centre had fallen.

The Vice-Chairman sought a demographic breakdown for FPNs issued in 
terms of age, gender and Ward plus comparison FPN figures for other 
Boroughs and their rates of payment for FPNs issued.

The Kingdom Manager did not have all the data readily to hand, but could 
commission a report for the Council if required. He advised that the age, 
gender and ethnicity of an offender was recorded when the FPN was issued. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) confirmed for Members that all age 
groups were represented in the FPN demographic.  The Council had a 75% 
payment rate for FPNs issued across that demographic spectrum, which 
compared favourably with other Boroughs. A 60% payment rate was required 
to self-finance the Scheme.   

The Chairman referred Members to the Panorama programme which had 
aired some 18 months previously on Kingdom’s enforcement operations 
elsewhere in the UK and the allegation that the company operated an 
incentive scheme with its staff to issue FPNs.

The Kingdom Manager assured Members that the company did not run any 
incentive schemes for its staff to issue increasing numbers of FPNs on a 
bonus basis. Team Leaders were incentivised to retain staff and achieve low 
staff-turnover rates. Staff were given a pay rise after 12 months service as per 
the commercial norm. Kingdom’s target as a company was to secure a good 
quality FPN process to secure successful prosecutions. A quality allowance 
was paid to staff with low sickness levels and who did not attract complaints 
from the public over FPN issues, but there was no fixed monthly allowance 
related to the number of FPNs issued by individual LEOs.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

7

The Leader noted in further response to this concern, that the level of FPN 
issue was good and the level of complaints against issue low. 

The Chairman returned to his theme of the effectiveness/success of the 
current Scheme and how it was being measured. He remained unconvinced 
that a low level of complaints against FPN issue and a low level of recidivism 
by smokers who had dropped cigarette butts [and been fined], were an 
indication of either objective. He noted that no FPNs had been issued for dog-
fouling in 2018 to date, so that offence was clearly not being addressed by the 
current Scheme.

Some other Members echoed the Chairman’s concerns.

The Leader maintained that a 0% rate of recidivism amongst cigarette butt 
offenders (over 6,900 people had not committed a second offence after 
receiving an FPN) allied to a low level of complaints against FPNs issued; 
were real indicators of the current Scheme’s success. The Scheme was 
simply the right thing for the Council to do to address littering in the Borough, 
educate the public, and reform their behaviour. The Cabinet decision to 
institute a scheme had been correct and justified.

The Chairman concluded discussion by suggesting that it would be easier to 
demonstrate that the current Scheme was effective if there was measurable 
evidence of an actual decline in littering: he had no confidence that this was in 
fact the case. 

The Strategic Director (External Services) suggested that the Council’s Waste 
& Parks Manager brief Members on the background to littering in the 
Borough, the aims of the current Scheme and the context of success in the 
long-term.

The Waste & Parks Manager emphasised the following principal points for 
Members:

 The Council’s street cleaning operation cleared 125 tonnes of waste 
per month;

 Litter only accounted for 5 tonnes of that monthly total;
 There was no accurate breakdown for the Litter component;
 It was impossible therefore to profile litter or those that littered ;
 DBC’s waste and litter clearing operation was comparable with other 

Boroughs in the area;
 Actual litter complaints were mainly about cans, bottles and cigarette 

packets;
 Complaints were down to about 30 per month for litter and 20 per 

month  for dog fouling; 
 Council street cleaning teams believed the Town Centre was cleaner - 

but this was difficult to quantify.



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

TUESDAY 18 SEPTEMBER 2018

8

In summary, he advised Members that the current Scheme was a long-term 
project whose success needed to be measured in years if not decades in 
terms of educating the public and altering their behaviour and littering profile.

RESOLVED:

That Members note the contents of the report. 

The meeting closed at 8.20 pm

Councillor J S Hawkes
CHAIRMAN



15 October 2018 - 28 February 2019

1 of 3

DARTFORD BOROUGH COUNCIL

LIST OF FORTHCOMING KEY DECISIONS – REGULATION 9 NOTICE

This document lists all key decisions due  to be taken  in the forthcoming 4 months in accordance with the Local Authorities 
(Executive Arrangements) (Meeting and Access to Information) (England) Regulations 2012. It also lists and contains particulars of 
any items where it is likely that the public will be excluded because consideration of the matter in public would disclose confidential of 
exempt information. The reasons for going into closed session are given in each case. An updated list will be published monthly.

All decisions are made by Cabinet collectively.

Cabinet Members:

Councillor J A Kite, MBE, Portfolio: Leader & Overall Strategy
Councillor C J Shippam, Portfolio: Deputy Leader, Strategic Service Provision & Town Centre
Councillor Mrs A D Allen, MBE, Portfolio: Community Development
Councillor P F Coleman, Portfolio: Front Line Services, Customer Champion & Housing
Councillor K M Kelly, Portfolio: Transport and Infrastructure
Councillor A R Lloyd, Portfolio: Strategic Council Finances & Major Capital Projects
Councillor Mrs P A Thurlow, Portfolio: Events, Leisure & Heritage

All of the reports contained in this list, where open to the public, will be published on the Council’s website www.dartford.gov.uk at least 5 
clear days before the day of the meeting or, if later, whenever they become available. All reports provide details of any background 
documents which have been relied upon to a material degree during production of the report, or relied upon when formulating 
recommendations or options for decision. Hard copies or extracts from these reports can be obtained on request by emailing 
memberservices@dartford.gov.uk.

This notice supersedes all previous notices.

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/
mailto:memberservices@dartford.gov.uk


2 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Housing Benefit Overpayment 
Write-offs

To consider writing-off Housing 
Benefit overpayments where it has 
not been possible to obtain payment, 
where the Tribunals Service has 
exercised its discretion not to 
recover overpaid sums or where 
recovery is not permissible under the 
relevant Housing Benefit or Council 
Tax Benefit Regulations.

Cabinet
1 Nov 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraphs 1 & 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Write-off of National Non-
Domestic Rates

To consider writing-off Non-Domestic 
Rate debts where it has not been 
possible to obtain payment because 
of insolvency, because the ratepayer 
cannot be traced or where the debt 
is otherwise irrecoverable.

Cabinet
1 Nov 2018

Sue Cressall, Revenues Manager
Tel: 01732 227041
sue.cressall@sevenoaks.gov.uk

CLOSED - if 
reference needs to 
be made to the 
Appendix to this 
report, which is 
exempt under 
Paragraph 3 of 
Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government 
Act 1972 (as 
amended)

Local Scheme of Council Tax 
Support 2019/20

To agree a Local Scheme of Council 
Tax Support for 2019/20 to 
recommend to the General 
Assembly of the Council.

Cabinet
6 Dec 2018

Consultation on the 
proposed scheme will 
be carried out with 
existing claimants, 
Council Tax payers and 
relevant stakeholders 
via the Council’s web 
site.

Sarah Martin, Strategic Director 
(Internal Services)
Tel: 01322 343632
sarah.martin@dartford.gov.uk



3 of 3

TITLE OF REPORT AND BRIEF 
SUMMARY OF MATTER TO BE 
DECIDED

DATE OF 
CABINET/GAC 
MEETING OR 
PERIOD WITHIN 
WHICH THE 
DECISION WILL 
BE TAKEN AND 
BY WHOM

WHO IS TO BE 
CONSULTED BEFORE 
TAKING THE 
DECISION AND HOW

BACKGROUND 
PAPERS

NAME, TITLE AND CONTACT 
DETAILS OF REPORT AUTHOR

OPEN OR CLOSED 
(if closed the 
reason is specified)

Stone Lodge - Appropriation for 
Planning Purposes

  

Cabinet
6 Dec 2018

Appropriation for 
planning purposes to be 
advertised post in 
principle decision by 
Cabinet.

Marie Kelly-Stone, Head of Legal 
Services
Tel: 01322 343634
marie.kelly-
stone@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Community Infrastructure Levy 
Spending Review

 

Cabinet
6 Dec 2018

Consultation is to be 
undertaken with key 
infrastructure providers 
and the Leader’s 
Advisory Group on CIL 
prior to the decision by 
Cabinet.

Tania Smith, Policy Planner
Tel: 01322 343103
tania.smith@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN

Revenue and Capital Budgets 
2019/20

To set the levels of expenditure for 
Dartford Borough Council capital and 
revenue budgets for 2019/20, to 
approve the level of rents chargeable 
for Housing Revenue Account 
dwellings for 2019/20, to agree the 
level of Council Tax for Dartford 
Borough in its parished and 
unparished areas for 2019/20, to 
approve the Pay Policy Statement 
for 2019/20 and to determine sundry 
related matters. 

General Assembly 
of the Council 
(Budget)
25 Feb 2019

Budget consultation with 
residents and 
businesses – December 
to January – mainly via 
website.

Tim Sams, Financial Services 
Manager
Tel: 01322 343148
tim.sams@dartford.gov.uk

OPEN





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 November 2018

THE ORCHARD THEATRE ANNUAL REPORT & ACCOUNTS 
2017/18

1. Summary

1.1 This report presents the Annual Report & Accounts for 2017/18 from the 
management company of The Orchard Theatre, Orchard Theatre Dartford 
Limited.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the 2017/18 Annual Report & Accounts for The Orchard Theatre be noted.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The Orchard Theatre is managed by Orchard Theatre Dartford Limited 
which is part of the HQ Theatres & Hospitality and QDOS Entertainment 
group, under a twenty year management contract with the Council, which 
is now in its ninth year. The contract requires the Contractor to submit 
an Annual Report setting out the performance of the Theatre in relation 
to a series of performance indicators which are specified in the contract.

3.2. The targets are not to be rigidly applied but to be used as reference 
points against which to measure whether, overall, the services are being 
provided as envisaged. The Monitoring Schedule is attached as 
Appendix A.

3.3. The Annual Report for 2017/18 is attached as Appendix B.

3.4. The Annual Accounts have been received and are attached at Appendix 
C. The net profit share received by the Council for 2017/18 increased to 
£53,700 in comparison to the previous year’s profit share of £50,900 for 
2016/17.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

HW2 Increase the opportunities for participating in sporting, cultural 
and leisure opportunities.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications The contract for the management of The 
Orchard Theatre is based on the Council paying 
the contractor a set management fee each year, 
and receiving a small share of any net profit.  
The management fee payable for the financial 
year 2017/18 was £352,389. 

Legal Implications None 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 November 2018

Staffing Implications None

Administrative 
Implications

None 

Risk Assessment The transfer of the Theatre management to a 
private operator has significantly reduced the 
commercial risk to the Council, without 
compromising the quality of the Theatre or its 
important role in the community. 

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

Not applicable

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Monitoring Schedule;
Appendix B – The Orchard Annual Report 2017/18;
Appendix C – Orchard Theatre Annual Accounts to 31 March 2018

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Contract for Theatre 
Management Services 16 
March 2010.

Stephen Jefferson 
(01322) 343524

Policy & 
Corporate 
Support

N/A



sjefferson
Text Box
Appendix A





 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

1 

 

Annual Report  
1st April 2017 – 31st March 2018 
 
Introduction 
This was HQ Theatre & Hospitality’s (HQT&H) eighth year managing The Orchard 
Theatre Dartford (OTD) on behalf of Dartford Borough Council (DBC), bringing further 
growth to the venue with a busy and varied programme.  Highlights during the year 
2017/18 included: 
 
• Attendance at 238,053, with the average capacity of 60%.    

 
• The number of performances during the year was 425 – 131 higher than the target 

figure.  
 

• OTD has now established its place on the number one touring circuit, alongside the 
UK’s big metropolitan cities.  Highlights during the year included:  
- An  embedded programme of drama that included Ray Cooney’s Out of Order, 

Agatha Christie’s A Murder is Announced, Ruth Rendall’s A Judgement In Stone 
and Gallowglass, Willy Russell’s heart-warming one woman play Shirley 
Valentine and the Touring Consortium’s adaptation of Jekyll and Hyde .   

- Musicals included favourites such as Thoroughly Modern Millie, La Cage Aux 
Folles, Evita, All Or Nothing, Hairspray, Flashdance, Addams Family, Grease, New 
Jersey Nights, Cilla The Musical, and Crazy for You, This is Elvis and Thriller Live.  

- Pantomime continues to take pride of place at the heart of OTD’s season and 
Cinderella starring Louie Spence and Michelle Collins was extremely well 
received, achieving even higher sales than last year’s Snow White. 

- The dining events included two sold out Cinderella Balls and four restaurant 
events.  

- A further season from the Royal Philharmonic Orchestra. 
- OTD presented The English National Ballet’s My first Ballet Cinderella in April 

with seven well attended shows as well as the English Youth Ballet’s Sleeping 
Beauty. Other dance in the season included Pasha’s one night production, Spirit 
of the Dance and Tango Moderno with Strictly’s Vincent Simone and Flavia 
Cacace.  

- Music included Sam Bailey, Shakin’ Stevens, Jools Holland, Jane McDonald, Sons 
of Pitches, Chas and Dave, Elaine Paige, Lulu and John Mayall.  

- Sell-out comedy appearances from Al Murray, Russel Brand, Lee Hurst, Omid 
Djalli, Joe Pasquale, Henning When, Jon Richardson, Paul Chowdhry, Joel 
Dommett, Gok Wan, Roy Chubby Brown,  Jim Davidson, Ed Bryne, Milton Jones 
and Stewart Lee.  

 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk
btaylor
Appendix B



 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

2 

 

- The popular themed dining event programme included Only Fools and Three 
Courses, Fanny Galore’s Big Christmas Night Out Special and the murder mystery 
Come Die with Me.  

 
• The profile of the venue continues to flourish with regular coverage on regional and 

national television and strong outdoor marketing campaigns, including on local 
buses and large ad sites. 

 

 Community engagement remained high this year, including open day events, 
Theatre half term fun days, work experience and the choir and Youth Theatre.  

 
The Orchard Theatre remained in contact with Dartford Borough Council throughout the 
year through regular client meetings – the agenda includes updates on the maintenance 
of the building, attendance, programming, HR, Health and Safety, customer feedback and 
marketing and sales.  The Theatre also introduced bimonthly meetings with Lewis Kirnon 
and six monthly catch-ups with Sarah Martin to ensure the Orchard Theatre’s community 
strategy complements and supports the Council’s vision for the town centre. 
  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

3 

 

Number of performances by genre 

 

Genre Target 11/12 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 Variance 
 to target 

Music 40 74 58 42 43 58 49 56 +16 

Comedy 30 18 21 22 30 29 23 23 -7 

Variety 40 13 37 42 41 46 35 27 -13 

Children’s 
Entertainment 

18 48 24 41 36 69 43 53 +35 

Musical 48 34 63 83 83 75 147 108 +60 

Ballet  8 6 4 6 7 8 12 17 +9 

Opera  8 3 1 1 10 4 4 2 -6 

Spoken Word 8 2 0 3 6 6 4 3 -5 

Drama 24 22 1 22 53 53 37 45 +21 

Dance  6 14 2 8 11 22 9 26 +20 

Orchestral 
Concerts 

4 2 5 5 2 2 2 2 -2 

New and 
World Music 

4 0 0 2 1 2 0 0 -4 

Pantomime 54 49 50 39 38 38 39 40 -14 

Local Use No 
Target 

33 34 28 23 17 30 32  

Total 
performances 

292 318 294 344 384 429 434 434 +142 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

4 

 

Performance attendance 
 

 
Performance analysis 
Attendance is 3% above target and 5% above the UK Theatre average capacity in 2017. 
 
The Addams Family musical reached a fantastic 98% capacity and was the highest 
capacity figure across the UK tour.  
 
OTD’s programming strategy of scheduling approximately three weekly productions per 
month and the fourth week split to secure the best one night performances in Dartford 
continues to work.    
 
  

Indicator Target 12/13 13/14 14/15 15/16 16/17 17/18 Varianc
e 
to 
target 

Number of 
tickets sold 
to DBC 
residents  

40% of 
bookers 

64,884 
(37%) 

85,713 
(41%) 

89,654 
(42%) 

110,7
09  
(45%) 

150,772 
(61%) 
All DA 
postcodes 

92,968         
(60%)           

0% 

Average 
attendance 
per 
performance 

57% 64% 57% 61% 61% 64% 60%  +3% 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

5 

 

Programming Overview 
April 

 Singing her heart out, Sam Bailey got April off to a belting beginning. Hot off the 
back of her portrayal as Mama Morton in the critically acclaimed musical 
Chicago, the X Factor winner and local star was a hit with the Orchard audiences. 

 The school Easter holidays offered the fantastic opportunity to present English 
National Ballet’s, My First Ballet: Cinderella. This beautifully adapted 
performance was aimed at children aged three and upwards and gave children 
their first taste of the magical world of ballet.  The production opened in 
Dartford prior to Sadler’s Wells. 

     This was followed by Broadway’s multi-award winning musical comedy 
Thoroughly Modern Millie, starring Strictly Come Dancing’s Joanne Clifton.  
Featuring spectacular dance routines and great songs, the show was a great 
success. 

     April was topped off with the uplifting new British musical comedy Made in 
Dagenham presented by DAODS.  Inspired by a true story and based on the hit 
movie, the show was about friendship, love and the importance of fighting for 
what is right. 

     One-night performances included music from Shakin Stevens, dance from Strictly 
Come Dancing’s Pasha Kovalev, comedy with Lee Hurst, variety from Champions 
of Magic and Naomi’s Wild & Scary, The Sooty Show and Dick & Dom Live! for 
our younger patrons. 

 
May 

 May got off to a fantastic start when children’s TV Megastar Justin Fletcher sold 
out two performances of his all singing, all dancing Justin’s Party show.  The 
theatre was filled with children and parents all enjoying the Bank Holiday 
Monday madness! 

 La Cage Aux Folles swept into town starring West End star John Partridge, 
Broadway leading man Adrian Zmed and West End Icon Marti Webb. Dazzling 
audiences with a show stopping score, this show was a big hit! 

 Keeping in with the glitz and glamour theme, audiences were treated to the 
ballroom dance sensation Keep Dancing. Featuring Strictly favorites Neil Jones, 
Katya Jones and Robin Windsor, this brand new dance show celebrated the 
popular world of Ballroom and Latin dance. 

 Younger audiences were treated to the dangers and delights of Dinosaur World, 
an interactive new show for all the family and the loveable Babe - The Sheep Pig 
in a heartwarming tale of friendship, adventure and bravery. 

     One-night performances included music from Jools Holland and Des O’Connor, 
comedy from Reginald D Hunter and Omid Djalili and variety from Psychic Sally 
and Tony Stockwell. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

6 

 

June 
 Following its smash hit run at London’s Dominion Theatre, Bill Kenwright’s 

production of Andrew Lloyd Webber and Tim Rice’s Evita thrilled audiences once 
again in Dartford. Starring two of musical theatre’s most outstanding leading 
performers, the wickedly talented Emma Hatton and Gian Marco Schiaretti who 
played the title role in Disney’s production of Tarzan - the audience were on 
their feet night after night. 

 Aptly timed for the General Election, the Orchard Theatre played host to Ray 
Cooney’s, Out of Order. A political farce, starring Shaun Williamson, Sue 
Holderness and Susie Amy, the show had audiences bellowing with laughter. 

 Encapsulating all that was cool about the 1960’s, All or Nothing was a 
quintessentially British “Mod” Musical celebrating the unique sound of the iconic 
band The Small Faces. Playing for a limited run of just three nights, the 
auditorium was packed and the extremely talented cast lead you on an explosive 
journey out of the dingy streets of Britain with an arsenal of brilliant hits like Lazy 
Sunday, Itchychoo Park and of course All or Nothing.  The production has since 
transferred into the West End. 

 One-night performances included music from the Royal Philharmonic Orchestra 
and Jane McDonald, musical tributes from T.Rextasy and The Magic of the 
Beatles, comedy from the All Star Stand Up tour and variety from our very own 
pantomime dame Ceri Dupree. 

July 

 Continuing to support our local community, throughout July the Orchard Theatre 
played host once again to Reynolds Performing Arts College, Sylvera Dance School 
and Bird College with a total of 11 performances packed out to friends and family 
members. 

 Somewhere, hidden amongst Dartford’s thorny brambles, was Ben & Holly’s Little 
Kingdom of elves and fairies. Everyone who lived there was very small and so were 
the audience! This magical musical adventure wowed families over four weekend 
performances. 

 There was also time to fit in a one-night performance from Jongleurs – On The 
Road the UK’s number one comedy company, who presented four of the brightest 
and funniest acts on the current UK comedy circuit in an evening of live comedy 
at its best. 

  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

7 

 

August 

 Kicking off August was our annual Summer Youth Project, Little Shop of Horrors. 

 Bringing some mystery to Dartford was Agatha Christie’s A Murder is Announced, 
starring Louise Jameson as Miss Marple and Janet Dibley as Letitia Blacklock. 
Needless to say the mystery of the killer was resolved, but it kept audiences 
guessing every night! 

 The little ones were entertained during the school holidays with The Tiger Who 
Came To Tea and the Little Mix Experience, whilst local young ballet dancers took 
to the stage with the English Youth Ballet for three performances of Sleeping 
Beauty.  

 There was still time for a host of one night performances, including comedy from 
Joe Pasquale and musical tributes from the Illegal Eagles and That’ll Be The Day. 

September 

 September got off to an amazing start when a big girl with big hair got the 
audience to their feet every night for two weeks when the international smash-hit 
comedy musical Hairspray came to the Orchard!  Colourful costumes and hit songs 
Welcome to the 60’s and You Can’t Stop The Beat meant the show was a huge hit 
with near sell out performances each day.   

 Dance lovers were treated to the energy packed combination of Irish dancing and 
Latino and Flamenco rhythms when Spirit of the Dance visited us again.  Later in 
the month more urban street audiences were entertained by the hugely talented 
company of Tap Factory who use their explosive energy to combine tap, 
percussion and acrobatics. 

 One night music performances included entertainment from Dartford favourites 
Chas and Dave, the always popular Rod Stewart tribute Some Guys Have All The 
Luck, Barry Steele and Friends performing the music of Roy Orbison and the sound 
of Pink Floyd was brought to life by the returning members of Think Floyd.  A sell 
out audience enjoyed The Magic of Motown, while those in a patriotic mood 
relived the good old days in the matinee show, Songs That Won the War.  

 The ‘Breast Ball in Town’, The Big Pink Ball was an evening of food and 
entertainment in aid of the charity Breast Cancer NOW.  A wonderful £7k was 
raised by all those that helped to make this a very special evening.   

 Comedy this month came in the shape of Jethro’s Bull and Bonkers Tour and also 
the sell-out German comedy genius Henning Wehn with Westpahlia Is Not An 
Option. 

 Younger audiences enjoyed the stage version of Channel 5’s Milkshake Live The 
Magic Story Book, featuring Bob the Builder, Little Princess and Noddy to name a 
few! 

 We closed the month with a classic Ruth Rendall ‘who dunnit’, A Judgement In 
Stone.  A talented ensemble cast featuring Shirley Anne Field and Antony Costa 
left our drama audience guessing until the shocking end reveal!  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

8 

 

October 

 October opened with our bi-annual visit from the talented amateur company 
DAOD’s and Singin In The Rain.  Audiences were treated to Hollywood charm with 
the classic numbers Make Em Laugh, Good Mornin and the legendary Singing in 
the Rain, complete with rain on stage! 

 An 80’s theme ran throughout the month with Strictly’s Joanne Clifton and A1’s 
Ben Adams wowing audiences during Flashdance the Musical.  This was followed 
by Midge Ure, The Christians and Altered Images, Dire Straits Money for Nothing 
and our Tropicana Frights Halloween retro 80’s disco. 

 Two much loved British divas graced the stage in October.  Lulu brought her 
biggest tour yet All About The Music to audiences whilst at the beginning of the 
month the First Lady of Musical Theatre Elaine Paige came to Dartford for the first 
time.  The show was a story of her life in music closing with the worldwide hits of 
Memory and Don’t Cry For Me Argentina to name a few. 

 One night performances included comedy from Joel Dommett, Jon Richardson and 
Paul Chowdhry.  Psychic Sally returned with her Kisses To Heaven tour and also 
The Solid Gold Rock and Roll Show and Circus of Horrors meant there was 
something across all genres this month. 

 Popular as ever Peppa Pig returned to Dartford, opening her brand new show 
Peppa Pig’s Big Adventure.  We also saw Mister Maker and The Shapes pleasing 
audiences with lots of take part fun. 

 October closed in spooktakular(!) style with the smash hit musical comedy The 
Addams Family.  A hilarious and slick show with an incredible ensemble cast lead 
by Samantha Womack as Mortisha.  By the end of the run it was standing tickets 
only proving to be one of our most successful shows to date. 

November 

 The month opened with Willy Russell’s heart-warming one woman play, Shirley 
Valentine.  Audience members enjoyed the nostalgia of the late 80’s housewife’s 
tale of married life’s ups and downs. 

 There was an eclectic mix of returning music ‘one nighters’ in the shape of the 
Royal Philharmonic, Chicago Blues Brothers, John Mayall, Soul II Soul, Frankly 
Sinatra, Sensational 60’s Experience, Bowie Experience and Whitney Queen of the 
Night.  All were ever popular and played to great audiences.   

 The original high school musical Grease came to the Orchard towards the end of 
the month and played to packed out audiences.  An all-star cast had everyone on 
their feet to all the classics including ‘Summer Nights’ and the singalong favourite,  
‘You’re The One That I Want.’  

 Further ‘one nighters’ included Gok Wan who brought his revealing show ‘Naked 
and Baring All’ to the Orchard this month.  There were tears and laughter all 
round!  Roy Chubby Brown returned with his politically incorrect and outlandish 
comedy!  And finally The Dreamboys were back with their brand new 2017 show!   

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

9 

 

  December 

 That’ll Be The Day Christmas Special returned with another near sold out show 
celebrating the 50’s, 60’s and 70’s.  

 The Belvedere Concert Band delighted audiences at The Magic of Christmas, this 
year in aid of Parkinson’s UK and the Samaritans.  

 Cinderella opened to great reviews and customer feedback.  Louis Spence and 
Michelle Collins both proved to be very popular with Dartford audiences.  We 
also had real life ponies on stage that caused much enjoyment for all!  Sales for 
2018’s pantomime, Aladdin are storming already. 

January  

 The month started with the return of New Jersey Nights – a spectacular 
celebration of the music of Frankie Valli and the Four Seasons.  Despite having a 
shorter sales run as this was a replacement show, audiences welcomed it back 
and sales topped previous years.   

 Moscow City Ballet, with full orchestra, returned for its fourth New Year season 
with The Nutcracker.  

 The big hit of the month was our week-long show, Cilla the Musical.  In this 
adaptation of the ITV series we were told the incredible story of number one 
selling artist, Cilla Black.  This heart-warming musical not only delighted with 
Cilla’s huge pop hits such as Alfie and Anyone Who Had A Heart, but was also the 
ultimate 60’s soundtrack as she was joined on stage by The Beatles and The 
Mamas and The Papa’s to name but a few.  Kara Lily Hayworth in the title role 
was a sensation invoking standing ovations to packed out audiences every day. 

 Tom Chambers, Charlotte Wakefield and Claire Sweeny closed the month starring 
in the high energy, high kicking feel good musical Crazy for You.  Audiences were 
treated to memorable tune after memorable tune such as I Got Rhythm and 
Embraceable You in this romantic comedy by the Gershwin Brothers.   

 Our returning community dance platform, Once Upon A Time, took place at the 
beginning of the month featuring several local dance schools and linked together 
by our own Youth Theatre group.   

 To complement the jam packed week long shows we also had some one nighters 
in the shape of Market Theatre returning in its post panto slot with its ‘adult’ 
take on ‘Sinbad The Seaman’.  Joe Brown was back in Just Joe with timeless 
classics and special guest Henry Cross.  Ronnie Scott’s All Stars brought some 
world famous jazz to the Orchard Theatre and finally Pop Divas Live kept the 
younger audiences dancing and singing along with ‘Little Mix’, ‘Katy Perry’ and 
‘Ariana Grande’.   

February  

 February opened with the weird and wonderful talents of the troupe of Cirque 
Berserk!  This year marked the 250th year of circus and the show was brought bang 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

10 

 

up to date with contemporary jugglers, dare devil stunts and of course, their 
award winning clown, Tweedy! 

 We then welcomed some fantastic tribute acts covering all areas of the music 
genre.  Those into rock and pop enjoyed the varied talents of ‘Adele’ with Someone 
Like You; The Classic Rock Show with hits from AC/DC and Aerosmith, to name a 
couple; The Rolling Stones Story; Showaddywaddy and Islands In The Stream, the 
songs of both Kenny Rogers and Dolly Parton,  closed the month.    

 Hooray for Hollywood, Swinging at the Cotton Club and the opera La Traviata 
catered to those with a more classic taste in music.   

 The biggest hit of February had to be Fastlove, A Tribute to George Michael.  With 
a sold out show this month we also confirmed a second date later in the year as 
audiences can’t seem to get enough of the late great global superstar’s hits.  

 We had several returning comics this month bringing laughs galore to Dartford!  
The ever popular Jim Davidson was a near sell out with his ‘On the Road Again’ 
tour.  Whist comedy favourites Ed Byrne and Stewart Lee brought their new shows, 
which packed audiences loved.  

 All Star Wrestling provided some Saturday afternoon family fun with the Brits vs 
the Yanks in some WWE tag team matches. 

 Our young patrons were in for a treat when David Walliams’ Awful Auntie hit 
Dartford for a week long run!  This told the tale of Stella who quickly learns that 
not all Aunties are the cuddly loving people the world would have them 
believe……. Audiences were delighted, including several school groups from 
around the county. 

 Closing the month was This IS Elvis, a recreation of all the drama leading up to his 
famous Vegas Comeback Tour.  It featured all ‘The Kings’ great hits including Love 
Me Tender, Hound Dog and In the Ghetto.  Audience feedback was superb! 

March 

 The Julia Donalson kids classic Tiddler and other Terrific Tales opened the month.  
With live music and puppetry, children were entertained throughout.  

 Drama audiences enjoyed the return of Middleground Theatre Company with the 
thrilling play, Gallowglass.  This was a weeklong production with mystery and 
intrigue to the end.   

 Phil Daniels starred in the Touring Consortium’s adaptation of Jekyll and Hyde.  A 
twisted gothic classic bringing the mayhem and terror of foggy London to life.  
Audiences also enjoyed a Page to Stage talk on the Wednesday matinee.   

 Strictly’s Vincent Simone and Flavia Cacace returned to Dartford with the breath-
taking Tango Moderno. The story wove through modern times with dazzling dance 
moves and a Tango for Today.  The stunning final twist on the Argentinian Tango 
had audiences to their feet each performance.    

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

11 

 

 Thriller Live brought the legend that is Michael Jackson to Dartford audiences! 
Direct from the West End the show was non-stop hit after hit.  This concert musical 
was a huge success playing to near sold out audiences.    

 One night performances saw the return of Menopause the Musical, The Dublin 
Legends and comedian Paul Chowdhry. 

 A new show for Dartford was Arsenal Legends in Conversation.  Paul Merson, Perry 
Groves and Ray Parlour talked about the ’beautiful game’ and also attended a sold 
out meet and greet.    

 
Marketing and Sales 
 
The publication of the Season Brochure three times per year remains the key marketing 
and Public Relations tool, producing a strong upsurge in sales when it hits, backed up by 
strong advertising campaigns.  This activity is complemented with full marketing and PR 
campaigns for each show, for example: 
 
General activity 

 OTD worked closely with DAODS with Made in Dagenham the Musical and 
Singin’ in the Rain. Both enjoyed very good attendance figures, exceeding their 
previous visits.  

 With Thoroughly Modern Millie we trialed focusing some press ads in the 
Greenwich and Blackheath areas – we saw a good response, so will try this again. 

 Hairspray vinyls were installed at the entrance of the venue and on the mirrors 
in the ladies bathrooms – something new!  

 To utilise the leaflets we receive from our week-long shows, we are now 
regularly using the Dartford Newshopper for leaflet inserts in the paper. This is a 
cost effective way of using print and targeting postcodes of regular attenders.  

 We have signed up to a six month trial of SMS marketing – designed for quick on 
sale announcements. This will be trialled for comedians and music events over 
the coming months. 

 We hosted the recent Dartford Living Live networking event in our upper foyer. A 
great evening with a very good attendance from local businesses. 

 We have increased our outdoor booking at local railway stations with coverage 
now including Sidcup, Gravesend, Bexleyheath, Sevenoaks, Chatham, Bromley 
and Charing Cross. 

 The marketing database has now exceeded 117,000 records. 

 We have commissioned The Audience Agency to do an area report for us, looking 
at our 30 minute catchment. The content is very encouraging showing that we 
have an above average engagement with the arts. We are now also able to 
target specific audience types with this information via our ticketing system. 
 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

12 

 

Team Visits 

 Some of the team attended the opening performance of The Addams Family 
musical in Wimbledon ahead of its visit to Dartford during Halloween.  

 Members of the team visited the press night for Fat Friends the Musical in 
Bromley. As a result we planned and hosted a publicity event in the form of a 
large exercise class at One Bell Corner, with attendance from the cast. The event 
was covered on Facebook live. 

 Some of the Marketing Team visited the Bafta Building in London for a venue day 
and presentation from the producers of Bing Live.  
 

Announcements 

 Beautiful, the Carole King musical, was announced and went on sale at the 
beginning of July. The public response was amazing with over 2000 tickets sold. 

 We had two very big on sale announcements In January with Take That’s musical 
The Band and Calendar Girls the Musical. Both have been received well due to 
the high amount of national publicity surrounding them. 

 Two cast announcements were made in March for Natasha Hamilton starring in 
Fat Friends and Ray Quinn for Summer Holiday. Both had a huge positive 
response on social media.  

 
Brochure activity 

 Our Summer brochure landed in May. We saw a good month of sales across the 
season following it hitting the doormats, highlights being All or Nothing, 
Hairspray, Peppa Pig, Addams Family, Panto and Cilla. 

 We held our Summer brochure launch on the opening night of Keep Dancing – 
over 80 people in attendance, including local press and top group bookers. The 
evening included talks from Ellen Kent Opera, Janet Lewis from the English Youth 
Ballet and a performance from Brenda Edwards who starred in Hairspray the 
musical. 

 Autumn brochure fully hit in November and saw some very strong sales for the 
rest of the season and going into Spring 2018. 

 We held our Season Autumn Launch for the brochure on the opening night of 
Spirt of the Dance – attendance from producers and cast of other shows 
including The Addams Family, Royal Philharmonic Orchestra and a performance 
from Someone Like You. 

 To support the summer brochure activity, we launched a summer season multi-
platform campaign – this included press ads with the KM, Kent on Sunday and 
The Reporter Series, plus Inside Kent magazine and webpage takeovers on The 
Newshopper website. 

 Our Spring 2018 brochure is one of our most successful brochures with over 
£300k of sales in the first week. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

13 

 

 

Groups and business club 

 Awful Auntie had a very successful visit with 21 schools attending from the 
borough during the week.  

 Jekyll & Hyde was popular with schools and drama audiences alike. We had 18 
schools and colleges attend including both Dartford and Wilmington Grammar 
Schools, amongst others from the borough. 

 Business Club has added two new members from Dartford:  Kent Curry House 
and S. Photay Dental. 

 
Public Relations  

 We attended Dartford Festival, promoting Hairspray. A really successful 
weekend, with over 1000 season brochures handed out. 

 Jamie (Marketing Manager) represented the venue at the annual Arts Marketing 
Association conference – over 200 organisations across the country attended. A 
good opportunity to network with show producers, marketing agencies and 
other venues. 

 The OTD team attended the Christmas Light Switch on, including Louie Spence 
and the actress playing Cinderella, Jayne Wisener. 

 
Premiere Cards 

 Our premiere memberships are currently at 3216 live members, 1901 of which 
are signed up to renew via Direct Debit. 

 
Media coverage 

 Champions of Magic – alongside a big radio campaign with KMFM, the cast went 
into the studio and recorded a live magic trick with a presenter. 

 Miskin Radio interviewed Joanna Clifton and Ben Adams from Flashdance the 
Musical and Sue Holderness for Out of Order. 

 Les Dennis and David Biddiel recorded BBC Radio Kent interviews. 

 Nicky Swift was interviewed ahead of her Shirley Valentine run for BBC Radio; 
Kara, playing the lead in Cilla the Musical, did a BBC Radio Kent interview with 
Dominic King for his 6.30pm show and Phill Daniels had a TV interview for BBC 
South East Today for Jekyll & Hyde. 

 
Online sales 

 Online sales increased throughout the year and at the end of March 2018, the 
average was 66.3%, against a target of 65%.  

 
  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

14 

 

Pantomime  

 Work on the panto campaign was actioned throughout the year with activity 
aimed at groups and schools starting in May – this included sending schools 
pumpkin seeds to ‘grow their carriages to the ball’. 

 We announced that Michelle Collins would join Louie Spence in the pantomime 
in April, the response was positive. 

 Sales were at 10,000 tickets by May 2018.  

 In September we held the press launch at Acacia Hall with Louie Spence, 
Michelle Collins, Jayne Wisener, Luke Kelly and the Mayor of Dartford in 
attendance. During the day there was a photo call, radio interviews and TV 
coverage from BBC South East Today. 

 Cinderella exceeded all expectations, finishing ahead of target and selling over 
30,000 tickets. Next year’s pantomime, Aladdin went on sale on the first day of 
Cinderella and sold nearly 8,000 tickets. 

 
Social Media 

 Out Of Order took over our social media while they were here, this included high 
street “campaigning” on voting day and cast interview videos filmed in house. 
The cast all really engaged on social media as well, retweeting and sharing all our 
posts. 

 The Orchard Theatre’s Facebook page surpassed 18,000 likes this year and 
Twitter reached 6,000 followers. Combined with Instagram, this gives us a total 
of over 25,500 followers on social media. 

 
Press coverage 

 We had many editorials in numerous papers and magazines including: My Kent 
Family that ran a competition with Babe the Sheep Pig. Jayne Wisner from 
Cinderella was on the front page of this magazine and we also had inside 
editorial pages of the KM for the Pumpkin picking photo call. What’s On Stage 
included a blog with Mick our volunteer about Pantomime and all things Orchard 
Theatre. Tango Modern received a multiple page spread in Kent Mid Living & 
Chislehurst Life (Q&A and photos) and a popular competition in Dartford Living. 
Some Mothers Do ‘Ave ‘Em gained KM coverage from the brochure launch (both 
print and online) with a spotlight on guest Joe Pasquale. The Band was covered 
in all of the local papers as well as online for the tour extension announcement. 
The Family Fun Day photos were featured in several local publications, including 
The Reporter Series, Inside Kent and Dartford Living. 

 Press nights are held for the weekly productions, including for Keep Dancing, La 
Cage Aux Folles and Evita, Flashdance, The Addams Family, Jekyll & Hyde and 
Tango Moderno. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

15 

 

 Photo calls included a pumpkin photo call with Cinderella, Out of Order, Peppa 
Pig photocall with Peppa, and local bloggers in the auditorium, Addams Family 
post-show event and photocall, cutting a themed cake. Debenhams Photo call in 
Lakeside shopping centre with Jayne Wisener and the two ugly sisters – a new 
partnership organised with Qdos.  

 Interviews included; The Little Mix Experience were interviewed by The Reporter 
Series; Sam Womack participated in an interview with Muddy Stilettos e- 
newsletter;  

 Facebook Lives included Grease cast (Tom Parker, Danielle Hope and Louisa 
Litton) took part in a Facebook live in the venue, with an area themed as an 
American diner.  

 
Community Programme  

OTD works hard to create a full creative and community programme.  Activity this year 
included:- 

 The Choir relaunched at the beginning of the year, but unfortunately was still not 
viable. Mid way through the year it was re launched again with a new musical 
director as a day time choir and is now fully attended and very successful. They 
have already performed in public on opening nights of Thriller Live andBeautiful.  

 Open House opens the doors to front of house and backstage areas to the public. 

 A group of children visited KMFM's radio studio in Medway to record the SYP 
advert and it was a great experience for everyone involved. 

 OTD and Dartford Library continued to collaborate and we are hoping to work 
closely with them in the future. 

 The annual Community Performance Platform was held in January - Once Upon a 
Time - showcasing 10 local dance schools including MIND. Mason and Lily, two 
young people from Summer Youth Project, performed the transition script with 
only one week’s rehearsal.  We sold over 750 tickets. 

 Singing workshops were held for Grease, New Jersey Nights, Thriller and 
Beautiful. 

 Half term theatre fun days were fairly well attended - all the young people who 
came had a great time and moving forward we need to look at the timings and 
the cost. 

 We had five work experience students in the venue learning skills from all 
departments.  

 We updated all DBS lists and we reviewed all safeguarding procedures as well as 
adding chaperone guidelines to each dressing room. 

 Child Protection and Safeguarding policy and training was rolled out.  

 Family Fun Day was a great success with over 300 tickets sold and some great 
feedback received. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

16 

 

Orchard Youth Theatre (OYT) 
OYT continued at the beginning of the year with a performance held in June, however 
the group has struggled to find a permanent home as the venue has no regular space to 
house it. The OYT will be reviewed and continued in a new venue with a new format 
from September 2018.  
 
Summer Youth Project (SYP) 
Our very successful summer project returned - this year it was the Little Shop of Horrors. 
It was a full singing and dancing specular.   We had over 130 children taking part ranging 
from 8-18.  From the psychotic dentist to the bumbling Seymour, each young person 
worked hard and it truly showed. Watching the young people laugh and make friends at 
lunchtime while breaking into song was also a highlight.  Memories were made on and 
off stage.  And remember; don’t feed the plants……!  
 
The Wizard of Oz has been confirmed as this year’s Summer Youth Project title with the 
highest number of audition participants to date (180). Terri has started working on 
Summer Youth Project 2019 as this will be our 10th year! Providing the planned seating 
refurbishment takes place in 2019, we are hoping to hold SYP in Dartford Park. 
 
MIND 
The Limelight Project (MIND) took place in the venue on 13 June. This was the finale of a 
project that has been running for a number of months. Great feedback from the 
organiser and participants. MIND have not renewed this term, but to maintain the 
relationship Terri offered them the chance to perform at the community show case and 
also to do some refresher sessions. 

 
School Liaison and Partnerships 
We are now an Arts Mark venue, giving us more opportunities to work with Arts Marks 
schools. Our School performances in the venue are now so popular that we have to 
ensure there is enough availability when programming.  
  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

17 

 

Charity fundraising  

 We did bucket collections for Ellenor Hospice for both performances of 
Menopause the Musical. Actress Cheryl Fergison is a patron and made a touching 
speech following each performance. We raised just under £2,000 for the charity 
in one day and got some great coverage in local print/online press.  

 The Front of House team was very pleased to be able to support Great Ormond 
Street Hospital with charity bucket collections throughout the Pantomime run 
with a total of £13,351.09 raised! 

 Jodie Prenger did an amazing speech at the end of each performance of Fat 
Friends for the GOSH collections for Tough Mudder and raised a fine figure to go 
against our JustGiving page - £4456.33.  

 Staff participated in various fundraising events including cake sales, charity BBQ, 
quizzes and the highlight of the year was when eight employees completed the 
Tough Mudder South East obstacle course raising over £8k for GOSH.    

 
And also… 
OTD continues to play a central and active role in the local community, for example:  

 Attending the Town Centre Board meetings and getting involved in the arts and 
cultural meeting discussions.  

 Sponsoring the Dartford Festival. 

 Allowing the Met Police Dogs to use the building for training. 

Front of House  

Highlights included: 

 The Theatre held twelve Tea and Tours throughout the year – participants were 
given a backstage tour and informed about the set, costumes and technical 
requirements– followed by afternoon tea! 

 Events include: Fanny Galores Big Night Out -  80 attendees for dinner and a 
show in the restaurant, which went down a storm; Four Tropicana Nights disco 
events which remain popular, including the introduction of a Halloween version 
with spooky 80’s costume; Bubbles and Buble dining event in the Restaurant; 
Ladies Night; Only Fools & 3 courses; Come Die with Me and Let’s Twist Again. 

 We launched the spring / summer and autumn/winter menus with great success 
and each menu received compliments. Staff tasting is held prior to each launch.  

 We hosted the bi annual Elders Forum for around 120 people in the auditorium.  

 The Hospitality Team supported the Big Pink Ball charity event, providing a 
themed three course meal for attendees. 

 The hospitality team was very pleased to receive five stars in its EHO Food 
Standards Agency visit. 

 Christmas events included two auditorium events for 250 people each 
(Cinderella Ball), and four restaurant events (Fanny Galore Xmas Show, Only 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

18 

 

Fools Xmas show and two Moonlight and Mistletoe shows).  All events included a 
three course meal and entertainment and we have received a large number of 
compliments from attendees. 

 The team worked on the launch of a centralised food and beverage tariff to align 
each HQ venue product list and prices. A number of new products have been 
added including new wines and bottled beers, a larger range of sweets and 
chocolates as well as some new snack options. 

 In advance of the government sugar tax being implemented in April 2018 the 
hospitality department has made changes to the soft drinks sold at the venue 
with a larger range of sugar free options and the replacement of regular Pepsi 
with Pepsi Max on tap at the bars. 

 All HQ hospitality venues are working towards becoming members of the 
Sustainable Restaurant Association and early prep work is being completed to 
ensure a good score is achieved on the SRA assessment later this year. 
Immediate fixes included the removal of single use plastic straws and stirrers and 
a strong focus on reducing food waste in the kitchen. 

Access 

 Throughout the year we had many access performances including signed 
performances for La Cage Aux Folles on 12th May, Hairspray on 9th September, 
Grease was held on 22nd November and Cinderella was held on 13th December. 
All were a great success and much enjoyed by the attendees. 

 We had three audio described performances - one for Out Of Order was held on 
10th June, A Judgement in Stone on 30th September and Cinderella was held on 
31st December. Before Cinderella, a touch tour took place for four visually 
impaired customers who thoroughly enjoyed their day. 

 A captioned performance was held for All or Nothing on 20th June and was well 
received.  

 Our annual pantomime continued with a relaxed performance on 14th December 
and one has been scheduled for Aladdin in December 2018.  

 We are continuing to look at our access performances to make sure there is 
something available in each season.  

 
Customer Feedback 

 During the year OTD received both positive and negative feedback from customers.  
The majority of complaints were regarding other customers disturbing their 
performance and the majority of compliments were thanking the staff.  

 In the first half of the year, the majority of feedback was for the restaurant regarding 
timing. Later in the year, we had feedback regarding the heavy snow and customers 
unable to attend the performances.  

 
 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

19 

 

Buildings and premises 
The property is kept in good condition with monthly maintenance carried out by the 
contractor Aster Maintenance Ltd, who maintain the building plant and 
infrastructure.  Day to day maintenance is carried out by the in-house Maintenance 
Assistant, who helps keep the building in a good and safe condition. 
 

 Major security upgrades were made to the premises including 21 additional 
CCTV cameras and improvements to security doors. 

 A full review of intruder alarm codes and fobs was undertaken by Will West. 

 Auditoria Services completed the rebuild of the Front Stalls rostra. The new 
structure includes renewed castor wheels, additional sub level metal bracing and 
a new front hand rail.  

 Riverside has completed the asbestos resurvey. 

 DML Electrical completed the annual dimmer inspection. 

 Aris Q completed the fire dampers inspection. 
 

Health and Safety 
OTD uses the services of R&B Health and Safety Solutions to support it in its aim to 
provide a safe environment for employees, visitors and customers. Regular workplace 
assessments are carried out by the consultancy with a full report issued.  The H&S 
programme included: 
 
Training  

 In house training completed throughout the year included Fire Awareness, 
Manual Handing, Ladder Safety and COSHH.  

 Sally Callaghan (General Manager) attended a COSHH Awareness Course. 

 Zelda Kitto (Hospitality Manager), Debbie Newbold (Hospitality Team Leader) 
and Charlie Barnes (Stage Door Supervisor) completed Contractor Management 
training. 

 Charlie Barnes (Stage Door Supervisor) and Jamie Leadbeatter (Marketing 
Manager) attended a DSE Assessor Course. 

 Lauren Greening, Jack O’Sullivan and Tracy Bacon completed their Level 2 Food 
Safety training. 

 Four members of staff passed the Emergency 1st Aid at Work qualification as well 
as over 15 staff passed A Basic Life Support course or their refresher.  

 IPAF training took place for the crew on 27th and 29th November.   

 Working at Height Rescue Training has been completed by the technical 
department. 

 On 28th November Paul Maingard and Debbie Newbold attended IOSH Working 
Safely for Theatres.   

 Will West and Chris Glover attended IOSH Managing Safely for Theatres.   

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

20 

 

 
Security 

 Issued Bomb Threat & Building Searches Procedure. 

 Increased security presence on the front doors of the theatre, including ticket 
checks and selected bag searches, following the increase in the UK Threat Level 
to Critical. 

 Project Griffin Training delivered by a local Counter Terrorism Security Advisor to 
68 volunteers and staff members across all theatre departments. 

 Suspicious Package Evacuation took place on Wednesday 7th June. The situation 
was dealt with as per theatre policy and staff have requested further drills in 
these types of evacuations, which will be arranged. 

 Three familiarisation visits took place with the local Fire Station to ensure crew 
members are familiar with the layout of the building should they ever need to 
attend. 

 A partnership meeting was held with Debbie Carey, Centre Manager (Orchards 
Shopping Centre) to discuss how we work together in evacuation and crisis 
situations. 

 We have fitted new CCTV signage in line with our CCTV policy.  
 
Other 

 Disabled Access toilet lock converted to one operated by a RADAR key to ensure 
this area can be secured during non-performance hours. 

 Fire drills took place throughout the year with volunteers, staff and a populated 
fire drill with 180 patrons. 

 We have purchased a semi-automatic defibrillator that can be used for both adults 
and children and we will begin training as soon as possible.  

Human Resources 

 Our first ‘Health and Wellness Week’ was launched at the Orchard in April.  A 
week full of activities and sharing to encourage a healthy and active lifestyle 
amongst the staff.  This was also an opportunity to promote areas such as 
flexible working requests and work life balance.  

 A managers’ Away Day was held at Eastgate near Ebbsfleet.  The management 
team came together and Chris and Sally lead discussions on business planning, 
recruitment and retention and projects such as flat floor band gigs and Green 
Room improvements.   

 Annual appraisals are taking place across the board. 

 The Orchard Theatre summer party took place at NYNE in Bexleyheath!  Well 
attended by staff and volunteers with live music and lots of cocktails.  A great way 
to say thank you to the team for a successful 2016/17. 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

21 

 

 A full staff meeting took place on 11th August to coincide with and support this 
year’s Summer Youth Project, Little Shop of Horrors.  Chris and Sally updated staff 
and volunteers under headings such as a review of 2016/17, programming, new 
team members and future building projects.  

 Approximately 30 staff and volunteers attended the annual HQT&H Celebration 
of Excellence Awards at the Churchill Theatre.  Our nominations included 
Matthew Holt (Assistant Ticket Office Manager) for Individual Contribution and 
Creative Learning for their wonderful project with MIND that we’ve reported on 
over the year.  

 Rebecca, Lorna and Chris attended a mock mediation session hosted by our legal 
advisors Blake Morgan.  An insightful session with useful methods to bring back 
to the workplace.   

 A group wide data audit has taken place to ensure GDPR compliancy. 

 A staff survey has been created for all staff in order to glean feedback that the 
management team can action.  

 
Personnel 

 Lorna Strawson joined as Associate Theatre Director in October 2017, replacing 
General Manager Sally Callaghan.  Lorna has worked with HQT&H for ten years.  

 During the year we have created new roles, including Housekeeping Supervisor, 
filled by Perdita Bond and Assistant Marketing Manager, filled by Kay Hadley to 
assist in our goals of ensuring that we have a progressive structure in the venue.  

 We have recruited three permanent technical roles, Dave Hughes, Tom Blackwell 
and Tom Harris.   

 Sadly Sarah Chiswell-Hornett and Simon Lambert moved on and the positions 
have been filled by Terri McCann and Ross Bibby, respectively  

 Rochelle Bisson has been appointed to the role of PR and Marketing Officer 
(Maternity Cover).  She will step into Michelle’s role for a minimum of nine 
months.  

 Maddie Hewson left her role as Distribution Officer.   

 We hired a Marketing Apprentice via Outsource - Jack Lowe joined our team in 
April. We have had great success with apprentices in the past as both previous 
candidates have remained with us in full time roles. 

  

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


 The Orchard Theatre
 Home Gardens Dartford Kent DA1 1ED
 Admin: 01322 220099 
 Ticket Office: 01322 220000 

 info@orchardtheatre.co.uk 
www.orchardtheatre.co.uk 

  

22 

 

The management team 2017/18 consisted of: 

 Theatre Director (Programming) – Chris Glover  

 Associate Theatre Director – Lorna Strawson from October 2017 

 General Manager (Operations) – Sally Callaghan  April – October 2017 

 Administration Manager – Rebecca Stevens 

 Marketing Manager – Jamie Leadbeatter 

 Ticket Office Manager  - Janet Kimber 

 Deputy General Manager  –  Suzie Burkett 

 Hospitality Manager – Lauren Greening 

 Hospitality Manager - Zelda Kitto 

 Technical & Buildings Manager – Will West 

Financial 

As per Schedule Two, a full set of Statutory Accounts has been included as an addendum 
to this report. 

 
Chris Glover 
Theatre Director 
 
Lorna Strawson  
Associate Theatre Director  

27th-June 2018 
 

mailto:info@orchardtheatre.co.uk


Orchard Theatre Dartford Ltd - Profit Share at 31 March 2018

£'000 £'000

Profit before tax per stats 513

Add back management charge less actual contribution to central overheads 136

Capital expenditure including seating/rostra improvements (78)

Dartford BC contribution to seating/rostra improvements 41

(37)

Net profit after capex, excluding stats management charge 612

Centrally-incurred admin costs (estimates):

Audit fee 7

Insurance 10

Telephones 11

IT support 15

(43)

Theatre Director bonus, recognised in HQ Theatres (13)

Loss on Education & Youth Project accounted for in HQ Theatres Trust (19)

Net profit after capex and centrally incurred costs 537

btaylor_1
Appendix C





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 NOVEMBER 2018

DARTFORD CRICKET CLUB 

BRENT WARD

1. Summary

1.1 To update the Committee on progress with the community use of the Dartford   
Cricket Club Pavilion in Hesketh Park.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The pavilion for Dartford Cricket Club in Hesketh Park was opened in 
March 2015 under a 25 year lease. 

3.2. The Club’s first year’s activity in the new facility was reported to Scrutiny 
in September 2016. Following the Committee’s request for more detailed 
monitoring information, Cabinet agreed (Min. No. 59 refers) that 
operators of all those facilities that have benefited from Council 
investment be invited to submit a short annual review for publication 
which would summarise their activities and links with the community.

3.3. Dartford Cricket Club has therefore prepared a report on community use 
of their pavilion in accordance with this Cabinet decision and this is 
attached at Appendix A. This report includes details of the Club’s 
programme of community activities which will help achieve health 
benefits for participating residents in line with the Council’s Health and 
Well Being Corporate Plan objective.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Dartford Cricket Club meets Corporate Plan objectives relating to 
Health and Well Being.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative 
Implications

 None 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 NOVEMBER 2018

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

None.

7. Appendices

Appendix A – Dartford Cricket Club-Community Use Information sheet.

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Stephen Jefferson 
(01322) 343524

Policy and 
Corporate 
Support
Internal 
Services



APPENDIX A

Community Use Information - October 2018 
QUANTATIVE METRICS 

 Membership numbers
o Junior Players - 132 active members  
o Senior Players - 48 active members (age 17+) across 4 Saturday and 2 Sunday teams 
o Social Members (includes Vice Presidents) – 60

 Coaching
o Active Coaches (qualified) – 11  
o Active Volunteers (not qualified) - 13

Pavilion usage

 The upstairs venue room continues to be very popular and is hired out most weekends. 
Demand still outstrips availability and 2019 promises to be just as popular with plenty of 
advanced bookings already taken. 

 Continue to provide facilities for St John Ambulance training (40 hours per week).
 Three individual charity fund raising events held for the local community.
 Act as home to a dance group, a running club and a cycling club all involved in the local 

community. 
 Good feedback with respect to our wheelchair accessibility and disabled facilities.
 Hosted monthly Club quiz nights – all well attended and money donated to charity.
 Hosted Kent Cricket Board All Stars cricket meeting  

Grounds usage

 Kent CC under 12’s used nets as a practice facility
 Hosted Kent CC Grounds workshop

 
QUALITATIVE COMMENTARY

 Hosted All Stars Cricket programme in conjuction with ECB : 8 week programme aimed at 
providing children aged five to eight with a great first experience in cricket.

 Provided 3 coaches for the Swanscombe & Greenhithe Town Council Cricket Taster day.
 Hosted Dartford Schools’ Kwik Cricket Tournaments (mixed tournament and girls tournament)
 Interclub cricket match well attended and raised £500 for ‘CRY’ charity.
 Hosted a Kent CC U12s 2020 match 
 Attended and supported the Dartford Festival 2018 over both days with activities promoting the 

benefits and enjoyment that cricket can provide.
 Re-accredited with the ECB Clubmark with congratulations received from ECB on this 

achievement and for our efforts in providing a safe, family friendly and well organised club 
deemed vital for the future of the game of cricket. 





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 NOVEMBER 2018

UTILISATION AND RENEWAL OF PUBLIC LITTER BINS

1. Summary

1.1 To advise the Committee with regard to the utilisation and renewal of public litter  
and dog bins.

2. RECOMMENDATION

2.1 That the Committee note the report.

3. Background and Discussion

3.1. The duty and powers to deal with litter are given to local authorities in 
Part 4 of the Environmental Protection Act 1990 and Part 3 of the 
Clean Neighbourhoods Act 2005. Section 5 of the Litter Act 1983 gives 
local authorities the power to provide litter and dog bins.

3.2. The Council currently has approximately 420 litter and 270 dog bins at 
numerous locations across the borough.

3.3. The number of other litter and dog bins in the borough, provided by 
parish councils, management companies and other bodies, is not 
known but is estimated to be at least 200.

3.4. Council litter and dog bins are emptied either once per week, twice per 
week, three times per week or daily, according to location, usage and 
need.

3.5. The majority of Council litter and dog bins are emptied by Amey LG Ltd 
under contract to the Council. Amey carry out just over 2,000 litter and 
dog bin emptyings per week for the Council. The bins in Central and 
Hesketh Parks are emptied by Continental Landscapes Ltd as part of 
their grounds maintenance contract works.

3.6. The waste collected in litter and dog bins is disposed of combined with 
other street cleansing waste. It is not known how much waste 
specifically is collected in litter and dog bins.

3.7. No surveys have been undertaken with regard to the usage of litter and 
dog bins. Levels of usage are therefore not known, but are believed to 
be high.

3.8. There is no formal policy or procedure in place for the provision of new 
litter and dog bins, but all requests for new bins are assessed 
according to merit. The Waste and Parks team receives 3 to 5 requests 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 NOVEMBER 2018

per month for either entirely new bins or for new bins to replace 
missing or damaged bins.

3.9. When considering the provision of a new bin the proximity of other bins 
is very important, as is the proximity of any proposed location to 
houses or schools. Whilst most people see the value of litter and dog 
bins, many do not want one placed anywhere near their home because 
of the perceived and real issues with them.

3.10. Although most Councils provide separate litter and dog bins there is no 
actual need to do this anymore (at one time dog waste had to be kept 
separate and treated as clinical waste for disposal purposes but this 
requirement no longer applies). The Council’s new litter bins now bear 
the wording “Litter and Dog Waste”.  

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

One of the aspirations under the Corporate Plan is “to achieve a high 
quality street scene”.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other implications and risk assessments*

Financial Implications  None

Legal Implications  None 

Staffing Implications  None

Administrative Implications  None 

Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Details of Exempt Information Category

None.

7. Appendices: None

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents consulted Date /
File Ref

Report Author Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Dave Thomas
(01322) 343273

Waste and 
Parks / 
External 
Services



t1w1ft 
Punjabi 

tDuSlw 
Tamil 

Polski 

Polish 

cesky 

Czech 

DARTFORD 
BOROUGH COUNCIL 

• • • • • • • • •• • • • • • • • 

fij #: q:r )( 
Mandarin 

Franc;ais 

French 

01322 343610 01322 343611 01322 343612 01322 343613 01322 343614 01322 343615 

MODERN ANTI-SLAVERY AND 
HUMAN TRAFFICKING STATEMENT 

If you or anybody you know requires this or any 
other council information in another language, 
please contact us and we will do our best to 
provide this for you. Braille, Audio tape and large 
print versions of this document are available upon 
request. 

Tel: 01322 343434 
Fax: 01322 343432 
Email: customer.services@dartford.gov.uk 

Calls are welcome via NGT Relay 

1 

mailto:customer.services@dartford.gov.uk


       

 

 

    

       

1.0 Introduction 

1.1 Dartford Borough Council is committed to preventing slavery and human 
trafficking in its corporate activities, and to ensuring its supply chains are free 
from slavery and human trafficking. 

1.2 This Modern Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking Statement sets out the 
Council’s actions to understand all potential modern slavery risks related to its 
business and to put in place steps that are aimed at ensuring that there is no 
slavery or human trafficking in its own business, and its supply chains. 

1.3 This Modern Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking Statement relates to actions 
and activities during the financial year 1 April 2018 to 31 March 2019. 

2.0 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 

2.1 The Modern Slavery Act 2015 consolidates various offences relating to human 
trafficking and slavery. In broad terms: 

 ‘slavery’ is where ownership is exercised over a person; 

 ‘servitude’ involves coercion to oblige a person to provide services; 

 ‘forced and compulsory labour’ is where a person works or provides services 
on a non-voluntary basis under the threat of a penalty; 

 ‘human trafficking’ involves arranging or facilitating the travel of a person 
with a view to exploiting them. 

2.2 Section 52 of the Act imposes a duty on public authorities, including district 
councils, to notify the Secretary of State of suspected victims of slavery or 
human trafficking. 

2.3 Section 54 of the Act imposes a legal duty on commercial organisations, which 
supply goods and/or services from or to the UK and have a global turnover 
above £36 million, to publish a slavery and human trafficking statement each 
financial year. 

2.4 The Council engages in commercial activities by providing services (statutory 
and discretionary), and its annual turnover is greater than £36million. There is 
not currently a settled view as to whether or not local authorities have an 
obligation under section 54 of the Act but the Council has nonetheless 
determined to issue this Modern Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking Statement 
setting out the steps it has taken to ensure there is no slavery or human 
trafficking in its business or supply chains. 

2 



        

 

  

 

3.0 Standards 

3.1 Dartford Borough Council will meet the following standards and also expects 
those with whom it does business with, to meet these standards: 

 To support every individual’s human right to live free from abuse, servitude 
and inhumane treatment; 

 To promote ethical business and operational practices in corporate activity 
and the services delivered; 

 To take appropriate steps to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is 
not taking part in any of its business or supply chains; 

 To take reports of witnessed, suspected or disclosed concerns of slavery 
and human trafficking seriously; 

 To take appropriate steps to address actual instances of slavery and human 
trafficking. 

4.0 Organisational structure 

4.1 Dartford Borough Council is a local authority situated in the county of Kent, 
which provides a wide range of statutory and discretionary services, delivered 
both directly by the Council and through external contractors. 

4.2 The Council’s Structure and Services can be found here. 

4.3 The Council’s Constitution can be found here. 

5.0 Supply chains 

5.1 In the procurement process, Dartford Borough Council would expect all 
suppliers of goods and services to comply with all applicable laws, statutes, 
regulations [and codes] from time to time in force [including [but not limited to] 
the Modern Slavery Act 2015, their own anti-slavery policy (where applicable) 
and this Modern Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking Statement. Contract terms 
and conditions set out the requirements of contractors and subcontractors in 
relation to ensuring there is no slavery or human trafficking in their businesses. 

5.2 The Council also requires its contractors and sub-contractors engaged in a 
‘regulated activity’1 to children and adults at risk to have safeguarding policies, 
procedures and training in place and to comply with the reporting procedures in 
the Council’s Safeguarding Policy. 

1 As defined by the Safeguarding Vulnerable Groups Act 2006 (as amended) 

3 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/council-departments
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/constitution


 

 

   
 

 

 

 

 

 

6.0 Policies and Plans 

6.1 Dartford Borough Council has a range of policies and plans in place which 
reflect its commitment to acting ethically and with integrity to prevent slavery 
and human trafficking in its operations: 

 Corporate Plan – contains a strategic aim to create a safer borough in 
which to live, work and socialise. Strategic objectives under this aim include 
using the Council’s statutory functions to increase public safety in the 
borough; reduce anti-social behaviour; and increase public perception of 
the borough as a safe place. 

 The Dartford & Gravesham Community Safety Partnership’s 
Community Safety Strategy – contains a theme to protect vulnerable 
people from harm, including those who are affected by slavery and human 
trafficking. This includes a commitment to establish the nature and extent 
of slavery and human trafficking within the borough, and to work with 
emergency planning teams to make sure that support will be available for 
victims who may be rescued at short notice. 

 Safeguarding Policy – sets out how the Council will safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children, young persons and adults at risk who come 
into contact with its services and activities. The policy covers how the 
Council should comply with the duty to notify the Secretary of State of 
suspected victims of slavery and human trafficking. 

 Whistleblowing Policy – encourages all its employees, councillors, co-
optees, contractors, their agents and/or subcontractors, consultants, 
suppliers and service providers to report concerns about any aspect of 
service provision, conduct of officers and others acting on behalf of the 
Council, or the supply chain. The policy is designed to make it easy to make 
disclosures without fear of discrimination and victimisation. 

 Employee Code of Conduct – is the ethical framework that employees 
work to, which makes clear the actions and behaviour expected of them 
when representing the Council. The Council strives to maintain the highest 
standards of employee conduct and ethical behaviour and breaches are 
investigated. 

 Recruitment Policy – sets out robust procedures for vetting new 
employees, which ensures they are able to confirm their identities and 
qualifications. To comply with the Asylum, Immigration and Nationality Act 
2006, all prospective employees are asked to supply evidence of their 
eligibility to work in the UK. References are also requested and followed up. 

 Corporate Procurement Strategy – Sets out the strategic aims and 
principles of procurement activity. This includes safeguarding requirements 
which are expanded in the procurement guide for managers. 

4 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/performance
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/community-and-living2/csp/about-the-partnership
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/community-and-living2/csp/about-the-partnership
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/health-and-social-care2/safeguarding-children
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/constitution
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/council-and-democracy2/constitution
http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/business2/tenders-and-contracts


 

  

 

   

 

 Procurement Equality Standard – aims to ensure that equality and 
diversity is embedded into the procurement processes. 

 Comprehensive Equality Policy –sets out the Council’s legal obligations 
under the Equality Act 2010 and the various ways the Council meets its 
duties. 

7.0 Due diligence 

7.1 Dartford Borough Council’s due diligence approach to procurement requires 
suppliers of goods and services to implement due diligence procedures in 
relation to modern slavery for their own suppliers, subcontractors and other 
participants in their supply chains where their annual turn-over exceeds 
£36milion. Where turn-over is less than £36million, suppliers are required to 
comply with this Modern Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking Statement. 

8.0 Training 

8.1 Dartford Borough Council has a programme of mandatory safeguarding training 
for employees that enables them to identify and know how to report suspected 
or disclosed incidents of abuse and neglect, including modern slavery and 
human trafficking. 

8.2 Induction briefings on equality and diversity and safeguarding are provided to 
Members following local elections. 

8.3 Within the last 12 months the Council has provided modern slavery awareness 
training to staff which included: 

 the basic principles of the Modern Slavery Act 2015 and the Council’s duties; 

 how employees can identify slavery and human trafficking and what to do if 
they have concerns; 

 what external help is available, for example through the modern slavery 
helpline. 

9.0 Partnership working 

9.1 Community Safety – Dartford Borough Council has a strong track record of 
working in partnership with other agencies to improve community safety. The 
Dartford and Gravesham Community Safety Partnership (CSP) is made up of 
statutory agencies brought together with a shared responsibility to tackle crime, 
disorder and anti-social behaviour. The Community Safety Unit is the 
operational arm of the CSP that deals with short-term operational issues on a 
daily basis and also looks strategically at medium and long-term projects 
connected with the priorities of the partnership. 

Alongside the work of the CSP, the Council facilitates a multi-agency Dartford 
Vulnerability Forum (DVF) which aims to; 

5 

http://www.dartford.gov.uk/by-category/community-and-living2/equality-and-diversity


 

 

  

 

 
     

 develop a common understanding and accountability framework among 
local partners of the threats, vulnerabilities and risks relating to: 

- serious and organised crime 
- organised crime gangs (OCGs) 
- street gangs 
- child sexual exploitation 
- domestic abuse 
- mental health 
- counter terrorism – radicalisation (Prevent) 
- safeguarding 
- slavery and human trafficking 

 provide and share information and intelligence on which to base local 
programmes and action plans that feed into the Community Safety Strategy; 

 facilitate and support the mainstreaming of the DVF activity into day-to-day 
policing, local government and partnership work; 

 understand and agree on a targeted and proportionate use of resources. 

The DVF’s work is informed by information and intelligence from a variety of 
sources, including Serious and Organised Crime Local Profiles produced by 
Kent Police. 

Sitting under the DVF is the Dartford Vulnerability and Organised Crime Panel 
(DVOCP). This is a multi-agency panel consisting of practitioners that problem 
solve cases at an individual level. The DVOP has been established to assist 
Dartford’s Community Safety Strategy in supporting vulnerable communities 
and individuals by tackling forms of anti-social behaviour and organised crime 
including gangs, child sexual exploitation and slavery and human trafficking, 

9.2 Safeguarding – Dartford Borough Council works with a wide range of agencies 
to safeguard children, young people and adults at risk from abuse and neglect. 
This includes Kent County Council and the Local Safeguarding Boards. 

The Council’s Safeguarding Steering Group includes representation from Kent 
County Council Specialist Children’s Services and Adult Social Services. The 
group monitors the Safeguarding Policy and any safeguarding referrals which 
are made by the Council, ensuring that it is taking its safeguarding 
responsibilities seriously and complying with legal requirements. 

10.0 Our effectiveness in combating slavery and human trafficking 

10.1 Dartford Borough Council uses the following performance indicators to measure 
how effective it has been to ensure that slavery and human trafficking is not 
taking place in any part of its business or supply chains: 

1. Number of suppliers evaluated using its supplier evaluation and due 
diligence measures; 

6 



2. Number of employees trained on code of conduct, human rights and 
modern slavery; 

3. Number of cases reported on its whistleblowing system and resulting 
action. 

This Modern Anti-slavery and Human Trafficking Statement is approved by the 
Council’s Management Team and endorsed by its Cabinet. It will be reviewed and 
updated as necessary, on an annual basis. 

7 





SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 November 2018

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE - ROLLING WORK PLAN 2018/19

1. Summary

To identify further items for inclusion in the Committee’s Rolling Work Plan 
for the remainder of the 2018–19 municipal year and beyond and to allocate 
timeframes accordingly.

2. RECOMMENDATION

That the Committee considers the Rolling Work Plan (attached as Appendix A 
to this report) and comments accordingly, including the identification of further 
topics for inclusion in the Plan or deferment of existing items as appropriate. 

3. Background and Discussion

3.1 The Scrutiny Committee’s Terms of Reference (ToRs) make provision 
for the Committee to approve an Annual Scrutiny Work Programme 
and to allocate a timeframe for its consideration in a Work Plan to be 
reviewed and updated at each subsequent meeting of the Committee.

3.2 In setting its own Work Programme and Plan, the Committee will take 
into account the minority interest views held by Members on the 
Committee.

3.3 The Work Programme, as detailed in the Plan, should ensure that 
there is efficient use of the Committee’s time and that the potential for 
duplication of effort is minimised, especially with regard to the remits 
of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) and the Policy 
Overview Committees, as set out in their respective Committee 
Protocols. 

3.3 In considering whether a particular topic or function should be 
included in the Committee’s Work Programme and Plan, Members 
need to be mindful of the following:

(1) That the primary role of the Committee is to scrutinise 
decisions of the Cabinet that have either been taken or which 
are included in the Regulation 9 Notices for future 
consideration by Cabinet;

(2) That although the nature of the scrutiny will generally dictate 
who participates in the discussion process, inviting 
participation by other councils to give their experiences is not 
a scrutiny function; but one for the Policy Overview 
Committee which undertakes the overview function; to better 



SCRUTINY COMMITTEE
20 November 2018

inform future policy options for the Council;
(3) That discussions on policy statements also fall to the Policy 

Overview Committee to consider who hold the overview 
function, not the Scrutiny Committee; and 

(4) That matters relating to crime and disorder, including anti-
social behaviour (ASB) and Community Safety, fall within the 
remit of the Crime and Disorder (Overview & Scrutiny) 
Committee.

3.4

3.5 

The Rolling Work Plan (attached as Appendix A) will be subject to 
further review at each meeting of the Committee during the current 
2018-19 municipal cycle, to allow new items to be added, or the 
timing of existing items altered. 

Work Plan items may be supplemented with additional items on an 
ad-hoc basis prior to scheduled meetings commencing; with the 
approval of the Managing Director as the Responsible Council Officer 
and within the provisions and timescales of the Draw-Down process; 
as set out in the Committee’s Protocol.

4. Relationship to the Corporate Plan

Not applicable.

5. Financial, legal, staffing and other administrative implications and risk 
assessments

Financial Implications None
Legal Implications None
Staffing Implications None
Administrative Implications None
Risk Assessment No uncertainties and/or constraints

6. Appendices

Appendix A: Existing Rolling Scrutiny Committee Work Plan 2018-19 

BACKGROUND PAPERS

Documents 
consulted

Date File 
Ref

Report 
Author

Section and
Directorate

Exempt
Information 
Category

Committee 
Minutes, ToRs,
Protocol

Nov. 
2018

David Hook
Democratic 
Services 
(01322 343276)

Member 
Services 
MD

N/A



Appendix A 

SCRUTINY COMMITTEE – ROLLING WORK PLAN for 2018-19 and Beyond

20 November 2018 19 February 2019 9 July 2019 12 November 
2019

Orchard Theatre 
Annual Report & 

Accounts
[Year ended 31 

March 2018]

No Work Plan Items

Princes Park 
Update

[year ended 31 
March 2019]

Orchard Theatre 
Annual Report & 

Accounts
[Year ended 31 

March 2019]

Dartford Cricket 
Club in Hesketh 

Park: Annual 
Update

Reg. 9 Notice Reg. 9 Notice Reg.9 Notice

Draw-Down:
Utilisation & 

Renewal of Public 
Litter Bins

Draw-Down(s)
[to be advised]

Draw-Down(s) 
[to be advised]

Draw-Down(s) 
[to be advised]

Draw-Down:
Council’s Statement 

on Modern Anti-
Slavery and Human 

Trafficking

Review Rolling 
Work Plan
2018-19

(& Beyond)

Scrutiny Committee 
Annual Report 

2018-19

Review Rolling 
Work Plan
2019-20

(& Beyond)

Reg. 9 Notice Agree 2019-20 
Work Programme 

and Plan

Review Existing 
Rolling Work Plan

2018-19 and 
Beyond




	Agenda
	3 Confirmation of the Minutes of the meeting held on 18 September 2018
	7 Regulation 9 Notice [WP]
	8 Orchard Theatre Annual Report & Accounts for the year ending 31 March 2018 [WP]
	Item 8 APPENDIX A Orchard Monitoring Schedule
	Item 8 APPENDIX B Annual Report 17-18
	Item 8 APPENDIX C Dartford 2017-18 Profit Share Mar 18 for Council

	9 Dartford Cricket Club [WP]
	Addendum Item 9 - Appendix A - DCC October 2018

	10 Utilisation and Renewal of Public Litter Bins [Draw-Down]
	11 Council's Modern Anti-Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement [Draw-Down]
	12 Scrutiny Committee Rolling Work Plan 2018-19 [WP]
	AppendixAdraftScrutinyCommitteeWorkPlan201819




